RECEIVED

08-23-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP1054-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES D. CARTER

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Charles F. Kahn, Presiding and from a Decision and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

PAMELA MOORSHEAD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017490

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was the burglary count involving the ATM properly joined for trial with the other 19 counts involving possession of firearms and a fraud scheme, where the burglary occurred roughly four months before the other offenses and the only thing linking the burglary to the other offenses was that evidence of the crimes was found at the same address during the execution of a search warrant?

Circuit court answer: Yes.

2. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance when she moved to sever the burglary count from the remaining counts due to unfair prejudice under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(3), but failed to argue that the counts were improperly joined to start with under § 971.12(1)?

Circuit court answer: No.

3. Did joinder of count five, charging possession of an assault rifle, with the other counts cause unfair prejudice such that the counts should have been severed for trial when there was no evidence that an assault rifle was used in connection with any of the other offenses?

Circuit court answer: No.

4. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance when she failed to move to sever count five from the remaining counts for trial?

Circuit court answer: No.

5. Was there sufficient evidence to support the conviction on count five? Circuit court answer: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is not warranted as this case, which involves the application of well-settled law to a unique set of facts.

While undersigned counsel anticipates the parties' briefs will sufficiently address the issue raised, the opportunity to present oral argument is welcomed if this Court would find it helpful.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As explained more fully below, this case arose out of a series of thefts by fraud, involving the perpetrator answering advertisements for the sale of computers on Craig's List. The perpetrator would make arrangements to meet to purchase the item, and would then pay for the item with counterfeit currency. Investigation of these crimes led police to obtain a warrant to search the home of Mr. Carter's sister. The execution of that warrant disclosed evidence related to the thefts by fraud as well as several firearms and an ATM machine that had been taken in a burglary months before. The prosecution of Mr. Carter ensued.

Procedural History.

Mr. Carter was charged in a single complaint with twenty criminal counts, consisting of one count of armed robbery, seven counts of possession of a firearm by a felon, one count of burglary, six counts of forgery-uttering, four counts of theft by false representation, and one count of attempt theft by false representation. (R. 2). Defense counsel moved to sever the burglary count from the remaining count for trial on the ground that joinder was unfairly prejudicial to Mr. Carter. (R. 9). The circuit court, the Honorable Charles F. Kahn, Jr., denied the motion. (R. 77). The court found joinder to be proper because the evidence relating to all of the counts was found at the same address during the execution of the search warrant. The court noted that "the problem for Mr. Carter on this issue . . . is that the evidence from the various larcenous offenses all ended up in the same place." (R. 77: 97; App. 116).

All twenty counts were tried together. Mr. Carter was convicted of all but four counts of possession of a firearm by a felon. (R. 23).

Mr. Carter filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (R. 106). Undersigned counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Carter. Undersigned counsel moved to withdraw the no-merit report previously filed by prior counsel. This Court ordered the no-merit appeal voluntarily dismissed and granted counsel extensions of time to file a notice of appeal or postconviction motion. Counsel filed a notice of appeal, but then concluded that a postconviction motion would be necessary in this case as a prerequisite to an appeal. Counsel requested that the Court remand the case to the circuit court to allow counsel to file a postconviction motion.

This Court granted that motion, and counsel filed a postconviction motion, arguing that the burglary count was improperly joined with the remaining counts under Wis. Stat. §971.12(1), that count five, involving possession of an assault rifle, should have been severed from the remaining counts for trial under Wis. Stat. §971.12(1) because joinder caused unfair prejudice, that there was insufficient evidence supporting the conviction on count five, and that counsel provided ineffective assistance. (R. 106). The circuit court, the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa, denied the motion without a hearing. (R. 112: App 101). The court ruled that if the joinder of the burglary count was improper, the error was harmless. (R. 112: 4-5; App. 104-05). The court ruled that joinder of the assault rifle charge did not result in unfair prejudice and that trial counsel did not provide ineffective assistance when she failed to move to sever. (R. 112: 6; App. 106). The court further ruled that there was sufficient evidence to support the conviction on count five. (Id.).

This appeal follows.

The Trial Testimony

As relevant to this appeal, the following evidence was presented at trial:

Armed Robbery

D.C. and her husband, J.V. testified that on October 10, 2011, they advertised an ACER tablet on Craig's List. (R. 81: 47, 84). They got a call from a man from (414) 484-6617. The caller offered to purchase the tablet. (R. 81: 48). They agreed to meet in Milwaukee for the sale. They met the man and exchanged the tablet for cash. (R. 81: 49, 85-86). J.V. immediately noticed that the currency was fake. (R. 81: 49, 86). D.C. called out to the man and followed him. (R. 81: 49,

86). D.C. testified that the man looked back at her and threatened to shoot her if she continued to follow. (R. 81: 50). He reached back for something, and she saw the butt of a gun. (R. 81: 50-51). It was black. (R. 81: 66). At trial D.C. testified that she saw nothing else related to the gun, but at the preliminary hearing, she had testified that she saw a holster. (R. 81: 51). D.C. then fell back and followed from a distance. (R. 81: 50-51). When she saw him enter a residence, D.C. called police. (*Id.*).

D.C. and J.V. identified Mr. Carter from a lineup and in court as the perpetrator. (R. 81: 53-54, 86-87). Officer Jason McGaw testified that when interviewed a couple of days after the incident, D.C. told him that she saw the perpetrator had a "black semiautomatic pistol." She did not mention a holster. (R. 84: 65).

Thefts by Fraud

R.K. testified that he advertised a Play Station 3 for sale on Craig's List on October 28, 2011. (R. 82: 20). He received a call from the same number used to contact J.V. and D.C. (R. 82: 20). They agreed to meet near Marquette University to complete the sale. (R. 82: 20). They met, and R.K. exchanged the game console for cash, which turned out to be counterfeit. (R. 82: 21-22). He called police and was able to provide the serial number for the game console. (R. 82: 22). His description of the perpetrator was consistent with the descriptions provided by other victims and was consistent with Mr. Carter. He did not identify Mr. Carter in court. (R. 82: 23).

C.L. testified he also advertised a Play Station 3 and accessories for sale on Craig's List on October 28, 2011. (R. 82: 26). He received a call from a man interested in purchasing the items from the same number used to contact

the other victims. (R. 82: 27). C.L. met the man and exchanged the items for cash that again turned out to be counterfeit. (R. 82: 28-29). He provided the serial number for the Play Station console to police. (R. 82: 30). His description of the perpetrator was consistent with the descriptions provided by other victims and was consistent with Mr. Carter. C.L. did not identify Mr. Carter in court. (R. 82: 31).

U.B. testified that he advertised two HP touchpads for sale on Craig's List. He received a call from the same number that had been used to contact the other victims. (R. 82: 34, 41). U.L. met with the caller and exchanged the touchpads for currency that turned out to be counterfeit. (R. 82: 35). U.L. gave the serial numbers to police. He identified Exhibit 73 as the box he had given the man in exchange for the counterfeit money. (R. 82: 36).

M.W. got a call in response to his advertisement on Craig's List to sell an Asus Transformer tablet. (R. 83: 5). He met with the caller, who gave him currency in a bank envelope that turned out to be counterfeit in exchange for the tablet. He then pulled out a cell phone, said "start the car," and ran. (R. 83: 7). M.W. described the person as "a black male, approximately 30 to 34 years old, 6'4" to 6'5", 250 pounds." The meeting occurred during the evening, and it was dark outside. (R. 83:9). There was no evidence of a firearm or holster. (R. 83: 11).

S.C. testified that he advertised an ACER computer for sale on Craig's List in early November, 2011. (R. 81: 93). A man called offering to purchase it. (R. 81: 94). He agreed to meet the man at a Walgreen's. (R. 81: 95). He never met with the man. He got a call from police and met with them. (R. 81: 65).

The arrest of Mr. Carter

Detective Bodo Gajevic testified that he conducted surveillance at 4117 North Sherman Boulevard on November 4, 2011. He saw Mr. Carter coming and going from the residence. (R. 82: 69-70).

At 6:15 or 6:30 P.M. Detective Gajevic saw Mr. Carter leave the residence and received information from Officer Fuhrman that Mr. Carter would be going to the area of 53rd and Capitol where a buy was being set up between Mr. Carter and a person who was selling something. (R. 82: 71, 77). Detective Gajevic went to that location and saw Mr. Carter standing outside the Walgreens. (R. 82: 71). Uniformed officers arrived, and Mr. Carter was arrested. (R. 82: 72). Counterfeit currency in a bank envelope was found in a search of Mr. Carter. (*Id.*).

Officer Fuhrman dialed the number that had been used to contact the victims, (414) 484-6617, and one of the cell phones that were recovered from Mr. Carter at the time of his arrest rang. (R. 82: 76; R. 83: 13). Detective Gajevic patted down Mr. Carter at the time of his arrest, and no gun was found. (R. 82: 79).

Officer Fuhrman identified the T-shirt that Mr. Carter was wearing at the time of his arrest, which he said matched the T-shirt worn by the perpetrator in the surveillance video that captured part of the armed robbery involving D.C. (R. 82: 97).

The Execution of the Search Warrant

Officer Fuhrman testified that a search warrant was executed at the Sherman Boulevard residence. Present were

Clara Carter, Takira Colllins, Lorell Howard, Tanesha Carter, and Caswon Barksdale. (R. 82: 98- 99).

Officer Fuhrman testified that during the execution of the search warrant a piece of mail addressed to Mr. Carter at the Sherman Boulevard address was found in the basement along with "a few" other "identifiers." (R. 82: 10). Also found in the basement was the Play Station 3 gaming system belonging to R.K. inside a box belonging to C.L. In the rafters of the basement, police located a box for an HP tablet belonging to U.B. (R. 82: 100; R. 83: 20). Also found in the basement was a black semiautomatic pistol in a black holster between the couch cushions. (R. 82: 101-102; R. 83: 20). Officer Fuhrman also discovered a paper box containing counterfeit currency. (R. 82: 102). Male clothing consistent with Mr. Carter's build was found in the basement. (R. 83: 44).

In the northwest bedroom on the first floor, Officer Fuhrman found a pill bottle from 2008 with Mr. Carter's name on it. He also found a money gram with Mr. Carter's name on it as the sender. (R. 82: 103; R. 83: 31, 32; R. 83: 34). The pill bottle was found inside a luggage bag. (R. 83: 24). He also found a counterfeit \$50 bill and a Guaranty Bank envelope as well as an oversized watch that looked like the one worn by the perpetrator in the surveillance video that captured part of the armed robbery of D.C. (R. 82: 104; R. 83: 24). However, Officer Fuhrman also identified Exhibit 130 as an oversized watch that also matched the watch in the surveillance video that was on Mr. Carter's wrist at the time of his arrest. (R. 83: 27-28).

In that bedroom, Officer Fuhrman also found a Mak-90 assault-type rifle or a "7.62 assault style firearm." (R. 82: 104; R. 83: 32). There was no ammunition found for this gun. (R. 83: 42). The officer said his recollection was that male clothing was found in this bedroom. (R. 83: 43). The male clothing that was consistent with Mr. Carter's build was underwear. (R. 83: 44).

When he initially testified, Officer Fuhrman said that he found a county or state identification card with Mr. Carter's name on it in the northwest bedroom as well. (R. 82: 103). However, later when going through the photographic exhibits, Officer Fuhrman identified Exhibits 117 and 123 as a Wisconsin ID and a county ID both bearing Mr. Carter's name and picture. He indicated twice that these items were located in the northeast bedroom. (R. 83: 24, 26, 31, 33). He then testified that a debit card bearing Mr. Carter's name was located in the northwest bedroom. (R. 83: 33; R. 83: 38).

In the northeast bedroom, Officer Fuhrman testified that he found mail addressed to Mr. Carter as well as his driver's license. (R. 82: 104). In a closet, Officer Fuhrman found three rifles and an antique-type handgun. (R. 82: 105). These firearms were the basis for the felon in possession charges in counts 6, 7, 8, and 9, on which Mr. Carter was acquitted. The officer's recollection was that both male and female clothing were found in this bedroom. (R. 83: 43). The male clothing that was consistent with Mr. Carter's build was underwear. (R. 83: 44).

There was another bedroom containing items that appeared to belong to Mr. Carter's sister, Tenesha. There were no items of evidentiary value located in that room. (R. 83: 15).

An Acer Tablet PC with the serial number corresponding to D.C.'s property was found in the kitchen. (R. 83: 20). An Asus pad matching the description M.W.'s stolen property was found in the living room. (R. 83: 6; R. 83: 19). An HP Tablet box bearing the serial number that corresponded to U.B.'s stolen property was found in the rafters of the basement. (R. 83: 16-17). Counterfeit currency was found in a "lint box" in the wall of the garage. (R. 83: 21).

Tenesha Carter's name was on the lease to the Sherman Ave. residence, and possibly her mother's as well. Mr. Carter was not on the lease. (R. 83: 33). Tenesha Carter testified that her she lived in the house with her mother, her son, and her fiancé. (R. 83: 79). She testified that Mr. Carter did not live there. However, on rebuttal, Officer Fuhrman testified that Tenesha Carter had told him that Mr. Carter lived in the home and that "[s]he stated that he either sleeps in the basement or the northwest bedroom located on the first floor."

Ms. Carter testified that her twenty-three year old nephew had access to the house and at one point had keys. (R. 83: 80). She said her mother kept rifles in the house that had belonged to her deceased step-father. (R. 83: 80-81). Mr. Carter was acquitted of the firearm counts involving the four guns found in the northeast bedroom.

Tenesha Carter testified that her step-father was from Ohio. (R. 83: 81). Officer Fuhrman testified that the "assault style" rifle found in the northwest bedroom was known to have been stolen from Mount Vernon, Ohio. (R. 83: 48). The parties stipulated that Mr. Carter had previously been convicted of a felony. (R. 83: 54).

The Burglary

F.A. testified that he was the owner of Home Run Foods on Florist Avenue in Milwaukee. R. 81: 30). He testified that on June 9, 2011, he arrived at the store to find its ATM had been taken. The burglar had apparently broken through the wall between the store and the daycare center next door and had removed the ATM that way. (R. 81: 31).

Detective Robert Laloggia testified that the ATM taken from Home Run Foods was the same one that was recovered at 4117 North Sherman Boulevard. (R. 81: 42). The ATM was located in the garage with a plastic black garbage bag covering it. (R. 83: 17).

Detective Douglas Williams testified that he recovered two garbage bags from the room in the daycare center where the hole had been made in the wall. (R. 81: 98). He took the serial number of the missing ATM from the owner. (R. 81: 106).

Lee Vedbraaten, a forensic investigator for the Milwaukee Police Department, testified that he lifted three fingerprints from one of the plastic bags that were brought to him by Detective Williams from the burglary scene. (R. 82: 10). Douglas Kneuppel, a latent print examiner for the Milwaukee Police Department, testified that Mr. Carter was the source of three fingerprints that were found on the bag. (R. 82: 17).

Chet St. Clair, a forensic investigator for the Milwaukee Police Department, testified that he lifted two fingerprints from the large plastic bag or tarp, presumably the one that had been found covering the ATM in the garage. (R. 81: 115). He admitted that he had no way of knowing how long the fingerprints had been on the tarp. (R. 81: 116).

Andrew Smith, a latent print examiner for the Milwaukee Police Department, testified that he analyzed the two prints lifted from the plastic bag by Chet St. Clair. (R. 82: 45). He identified one of them as matching Mr. Carter. (R. 82: 45).

ARGUMENT

- I. The Burglary Count was Improperly Joined with the Other Counts and Should Have Been Tried Separately.
 - A. Legal principles regarding joinder and severance.

The court may order that multiple counts be tried together if the crimes "could have been joined in a single complaint." Wis. Stat. § 971.12(4). Under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1) two or more crimes may be charged in a single complaint only if:

the crimes charged ... are of the same or similar character or are based on the same act or transaction or on 2 or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan.

To be of the "same or similar character" under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1), crimes must be "the same type of offenses occurring over a relatively short period of time and the evidence as to each must overlap." *State v. Hamm*, 146 Wis. 2d 130, 138, 430 N.W.2d 584, 588, (Ct. App. 1988), citing *State v. Hoffman*, 106 Wis.2d 185, 208, 316 N.W.2d 143, 156 (Ct.App.1982). It is not sufficient that the offenses involve merely the same type of criminal charge. *Id*.

The initial decision on joinder is a question of law that the appellate courts review de novo. *State v. Salinas*, 2016 WI 44, ¶ 30, 369 Wis. 2d 9, 26, 879 N.W.2d 609, 618 (citing *See State v. Locke*, 177 Wis.2d 590, 596–97, 502 N.W.2d 891 (Ct.App.1993); *Hoffman*, 106 Wis.2d at 208–09).

Even if charges would satisfy joinder requirements, a court may order separate trials "[i]f it appears that a defendant or the state is prejudiced by a joinder of crimes." Wis. Stat. § 971.12(3). A motion for severance is addressed to the trial court's discretion. Appellate courts review the circuit court's decision for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *Salinas*, 2016 WI 44, at ¶ 30, 369 Wis. 2d at 27, 879 N.W.2d at 618.

B. The burglary count involving the ATM was improperly joined.

In this case, the burglary count was improperly joined with the remaining counts in the first instance. The burglary count was not "of the same or similar character" to any of the other charges. First, the burglary was not "the same type of crime" as any of the other charges. This seems self-evident. This Court has specifically held that a burglary is not the same type of crime as an armed robbery. *State v. Davis*, 2006 WI App 23, ¶ 18, 289 Wis. 2d 398, 411, 710 N.W.2d 514, 520. The burglary involving the ATM shares no particular similarity with thefts by fraud, forgery/uttering, or possession of a firearm by a felon. Further, while the thefts by fraud, the associated forgery/uttering offenses, and the armed robbery all occurred over a "relatively short period of time," the burglary occurred four months before the other crimes. ¹

¹ The verdict forms listed the date corresponding to each offense. The burglary was alleged to have occurred on or about June 9, 2011. The closest charges in time were those alleged to have occurred on October 10, 2011.

The circuit court, the Honorable Charles Kahn, in allowing joinder and denying the defense motion to sever, took a backward approach to the analysis. The court skipped the questions of similarity and timing and decided that the charges were properly joined simply because the evidence was found at the same location. (R. 77: 98-100; App. 117-119). The court concluded that this fact alone justified joinder.

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