### RECEIVED

### STATE OF WISCONSIN **10-26-2016**

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP1054-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES DARNELL CARTER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CHARLES F. KAHN (JUDGMENT) AND THE HONORABLE FREDERICK C. ROSA (ORDER), PRESIDING

### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF-IN-CHIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

GREGORY M. WEBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018533

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. General principles of law governing Carter's claims.

### A. Joinder and severance.

*Initial joinder*. Wisconsin Stat. § 971.12(1) permits initial joinder of two or more crimes in the same complaint or information if they are of the same or similar character or are based on the same act or transaction or on 2 or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan. Courts broadly construe this statute in favor of initial joinder. *State v. Salinas*, 2016 WI 44, ¶ 31, 369 Wis. 2d 9, 879 N.W.2d 609.

The State believes Carter's case involves two or more crimes based on two or more transactions "connected together." In *Salinas*, the supreme court considered multiple, non-exclusive factors in deciding whether crimes were connected together for purposes of initial joinder:

- Are the charges closely related?
- Are there common factors of substantial importance?
- Did one charge arise out of the investigation of the other?
- Are the crimes close in time or close in location?
- Do the crimes involve the same victims?
- Are the crimes similar in manner, scheme or plan?

- Was one crime committed to prevent punishment for another?
- Would joinder serve the goals and purposes of § 971.12?

Id. ¶ 43. Initial joinder decisions present questions of law, reviewed de novo. Id. ¶ 30. Similarities between federal law and § 971.12 also make federal authority useful when resolving joinder issues. State v. McGuire, 204 Wis. 2d 372, 380 n.5, 556 N.W.2d 111 (Ct. App. 1996) (citation omitted).

Relief from prejudicial joinder. Even after initial joinder, § 971.12(3) allows a circuit court to order separate trials "[i]f it appears that a defendant or the state is prejudiced by a joinder of crimes[.]

When a defendant moves to sever, the trial court must determine what, if any, prejudice would result from a trial on the joined offenses, and weigh that potential prejudice against the interests of the public in conducting a trial on the multiple counts. In order to establish that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion, the defendant must establish that he or she suffered substantial prejudice. Yet, if the offenses meet the criteria for joinder, it is presumed that the defendant will suffer no prejudice from a trial. ioint That is. however, rebuttable presumption.

State v. Linton, 2010 WI App 129, ¶ 15, 329 Wis. 2d 687, 791 N.W.2d 222 (citations, quotation marks, and internal editing omitted).

A circuit court's decision on a motion to sever under  $\S 971.12(3)$  is discretionary. *Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9,  $\P 30$ . This Court will affirm the decision if the circuit court

examined the relevant facts, applied a proper legal standard, and used a rational process to reach a conclusion that a reasonable court could reach. *See Loy v. Bunderson*, 107 Wis. 2d 400, 414-15, 320 N.W.2d 175 (1982).

Harmless error analysis applies to erroneous joinder. State v. Leach, 124 Wis. 2d 648, 669, 370 N.W.2d 240 (1985). Under harmless error analysis, an "error is harmless if it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶¶ 49, 51, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189, quoting Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999). The harmless error test is essentially consistent with the test for prejudice under Strickland. State v. Eison, 2011 WI App 52, ¶ 11, 332 Wis. 2d 331, 797 N.W.2d 890.

"The potential problem as a result of a trial on joint charges is that a defendant may suffer prejudice since a jury may be incapable of separating the evidence relevant to each offense or because the jury may perceive a defendant accused of several crimes is predisposed to committing criminal acts." *Leach*, 124 Wis. 2d at 672. "As to the first concern, there is no prejudice from misjoinder when the several counts are logically, factually and legally distinct, so that the jury does not become confused about which evidence relates to which crime and considers each of the separately." *Id.* "As to the second concern, misjoinder may also be harmless when evidence of the defendant's guilt of each offense is overwhelming." *Id.* at 673.

### B. Ineffective assistance.

Carter must prove trial counsel rendered deficient performance that resulted in actual prejudice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88 (1984); *Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 773. This

Court presumes competent representation. *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 103-104 (2011).

To prove deficient performance, Carter must identify specific acts or omissions by trial counsel that fall "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. Pertinent here, trial counsel isn't ineffective for failing to make a meritless motion. *State v. Simpson*, 185 Wis. 2d 772, 784, 519 N.W.2d 662 (Ct. App. 1994).

To prove actual prejudice, Carter must show trial counsel's deficient performance deprived him of a fair trial with a reliable outcome. *Strickland*, 466 U.S.at 687. He must show "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 694.

The two *Strickland* prongs present mixed questions of law and fact. *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 633-34, 369 N.W.2d 628 (1985).

### C. Sufficiency of the evidence.

Jury verdicts receive deferential appellate review:

[I]n reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not

overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence before it.

State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990) (citation omitted).

Carter can't simply posit different or competing inferences from the evidence. This Court must follow the inferences that support the verdict. *Id.* at 506-07. A jury can select from competing inferences drawn from the evidence and may, within the bounds of reason, reject an inference consistent with innocence. *Id.* at 506.

Juries determine witness credibility and decide whether to accept or reject certain evidence. *Id.* at 506. "This court will only substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact when the fact finder relied upon evidence that was inherently or patently incredible—that kind of evidence [that] conflicts with the laws of nature or with fully-established or conceded facts." *State v. Tarantino*, 157 Wis. 2d 199, 218, 458 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1990) (citation omitted).

A conviction may rest entirely on circumstantial evidence. The test for evidentiary sufficiency remains the same. *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 501-02.

# II. Trial counsel's failure to move the circuit court to sever the burglary charge under § 971.13(1) doesn't constitute ineffective assistance.

Carter moved the circuit court pretrial under § 971.12(3) to sever the burglary charge from the other charges on grounds of unfair prejudice. (9.) The prosecutor argued in response that, because the law enforcement search of Carter's residence and garage yielded evidence of all the

charged crimes, proof of those discoveries would be cross-admissible at multiple trials to demonstrate that Carter committed each offense. (77:90-93.)

The circuit court denied the motion, concluding that "the problem for Mr. Carter on this issue is what [the prosecutor] just explained, that the evidence, that is the items taken from the various larcenous events . . . all ended up in the same place." (77:97.)

Carter repeats his argument here. He believes trial counsel should have proceeded under § 971.12(1). He claims the burglary count was improperly joined with the remaining counts "in the first instance." Carter's Br. 13. He points to dissimilarities between the burglary charge and the remaining charges, and asserts a lack of legal support for the proposition "that joinder is appropriate merely because evidence of multiple dissimilar offenses was discovered during the same search." *Id.* at 14.

Carter also believes that, no matter which statute applies, he suffered prejudice based on the possibility the jury "cumulate[ed]" the evidence and convicted him, especially since other people had access to the property where police found the ATM. *Id.* at 15. And he asserts that, had there been a separate trial on the burglary charge, he would have testified. *Id.* at 16.

Trial counsel didn't err in failing to raise a claim of improper joinder under § 971.12(1). The burglary charge was properly joined with the other charges. And Carter suffered no actual prejudice from that joinder.

the burglary Α. Because charge was together" with "connected the other under severance motion charges. a § 971.12(1) would have failed.

Initial joinder is proper "when two or more crimes are based on two or more acts or transactions that are 'connected together." Salinas, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 31.

That's what we have here. Because the burglary charge was connected together with the other charges, a severance motion under § 971.12(1) would have failed.

Many of the *Salinas* factors used to determine whether separate crimes are connected together support the initial joinder.

The first three factors—a close relationship between the charges, the presence of common factors of substantial importance, and one charge arising out of the investigation of others—support the initial joinder.

The charges were closely related. With the exception of the felon-in-possession charges, all were crimes against a property owner's right of possession.

And a single police search of Carter's residence and garage during the investigation of Carter's scam purchases revealed evidence of not only the burglary, but also each and every other charge brought in the complaint and the information, including the felon-in-possession charges. (2:2-6.) The circuit court found in postconviction proceedings that "[t]he victims [from whom Carter conducted his sham purchases] had provided police with the serial numbers of the items that had been taken, and these items were found in the same location with the ATM." (112:5.)

For purposes of initial joinder, the discovery of all the evidence in a single location during an investigative search forged a close relationship between the burglary and each of the other charged crimes. The discovery was a common factor of substantial—possibly overarching—importance. And all the charges arose out of the initial investigation of Carter's scam purchases on Craigslist.

The fourth *Salinas* factor—crimes committed closely in time and location—also favors initial joinder. The charged crimes spanned a five-month period, and all of them occurred in Milwaukee County. (112:1.) That temporal and physical proximity fully justifies the postconviction court's characterization of Carter's conduct as a single "crime spree," and not as a series of crimes too far apart in time and location to have any logical connection with each other beyond the sole perpetrator.

The seventh *Salinas* factor—whether joinder serves the goals and purposes of § 971.12—also favors initial joinder.

"We interpret initial joinder decisions broadly because of the goals and purposes of the joinder statute: (1) trial economy and convenience; (2) to promote efficiency in judicial administration; and (3) to eliminate multiple trials against the same defendant, which promotes fiscal responsibility." Salinas, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 36 (citations omitted). Combining the burglary charge with the other charges for a single trial saved valuable court time, allowed for a single jury selection and gathering of witnesses, and saved the additional financial expenses multiple trials would

have incurred.  $^1$  See id. ¶ 43. It also gave Carter a single resolution of all the charges against him.

The burglary charge was properly joined with the other charges for a single trial. Carter doesn't establish otherwise.

He says he found "no support for the proposition that joinder is appropriate merely because evidence of multiple dissimilar offenses was discovered during the same search." Carter's Br. 14.

In addition to *Salinas*, the State found ample support for that proposition.

If offenses committed at different times and places against different victims share a common element of substantial importance, they're properly joined for a single trial. *People v. Lucky*, 753 P. 2d 1052, 1062 (Ca. 1988) (en banc). Ample support exists for the proposition that charges are connected together—that they're closely related and share a common element of substantial importance—when law enforcement discovers evidence of the charges in a single location.

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court shouldn't underestimate the administrative value of a single trial. Had the burglary been charged separately, many of the officers involved in the search of Carter's residence and garage would have testified at the burglary trial because the State would have been entitled to present evidence explaining how the police came to discover and recover the ATM in order to complete the story. *State v. Bettinger*, 100 Wis. 2d 691, 697, 303 N.W.2d 585, amended, 100 Wis. 2d 691, 305 N.W.2d 57 (1981).

United States v. Park involved joinder of drugs and weapons charges against one defendant. 531 F.2d 754 (5th Cir. 1976). Police discovered the weapon in a search of his home during the drug investigation. The Fifth Circuit held that finding the drugs and the gun during the search of his home provided a sufficient nexus to say the charges arose from the same transaction. Id. at 760-61. Accord United States v. Fortenberry, 919 F.2d 923, 926 (5th Cir. 1990). See also United States v. Pietras, which involved a joint trial of a weapons charge with other charges when police discovered the firearm in the defendant's escape van. There, "[p]ossession of the unregistered firearm derive[d] from the firearm's presence in the van which Pietras employed as a means of escape," making joinder proper. 501 F.2d 182, 185 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 419 U.S. 1071 (1974).

Gooch v. United States involved a defendant facing a single trial on charges of robbery and unauthorized use of a motor vehicle. 609 A.2d 259 (D.C. App. 1992). Police discovered evidence of the robberies in the trunk of the car. Id. at 261. For purposes of joinder, Gooch held that the offenses were connected together because "[t]he proceeds of the robbery were found in the truck of the vehicle which appellant had stolen several days earlier." Id. at 264.

Given the broad construction afforded § 971.12(1) in favor of initial joinder, this Court should conclude that the burglary charge was properly joined with the other charges for a single trial.

The Sixth Amendment didn't require trial counsel to make a meritless motion. *Simpson*, 185 Wis. 2d at 784. Carter's ineffective assistance challenge fails for this reason alone.

# B. Carter suffered no actual prejudice from joinder of the burglary charge with the remaining charges.

Carter's claims of prejudice break cleanly into two assertions:

- He faced the risk of prejudice from the jury accumulating the evidence of the remaining 19 charges and using it to find him guilty on the burglary charge, especially since he didn't have exclusive access to the property where police found the ATM. Carter's Br. 15.
- He would've testified at a separate trial on the burglary charge, denying responsibility and raising the possibility that others with access to the residence and garage committed the burglary. *Id.* 16.

His assertions fail to persuade.

First, a *risk* of prejudice isn't enough to establish either ineffective assistance or reversible error. Ineffective assistance requires proof of *actual* prejudice. *Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 773. Relief from prejudicial joinder requires proof of *substantial* prejudice. *See Linton*, 329 Wis. 2d 687, ¶ 15.

Pointing to a risk or possibility of prejudice doesn't satisfy either standard. It's the equivalent of pointing to the fact of conviction and claiming, *ipse dixit*, that prejudice must have occurred. That's not enough to warrant relief.

Second, Carter's postconviction claim that he suffered prejudice because he would've testified at a separate burglary trial doesn't help him.

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